Quantitative evaluation of spasticity

Quantitative evaluation of spasticity

© Jakob Lorentzen 2010 Department of Exercise and Sport Sciences, Faculty of Science, University of Copenhagen

Department of Physiotherapy, Copenhagen University Hospital, Hvidovre

Department of Neurorehabilitation TBI Unit, Copenhagen University Hospital, Glostrup







PhD thesis

Submitted October 2010 Defended December 2010

Opponents:

Associate Professor Natalie Mrachacz-Kersting, Department of Health Science and Technology, Aalborg University, Denmark

Professor Jane Burridge, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Southampton, England

Associate professor Nicolas Caesar Petersen, Department of Exercise and Sport Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Denmark (chairman)

Supervisor: Professor Jens Bo Nielsen, Department of Exercise and Sport Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Cover layout: Vicki Dam Layout: Jakob Lorentzen Printed by: Det Samfundsvidenskabelige Fakultets ReproCenter

ISBN: 978 87 917 71 309

Jakob Lorentzen

Quantitative evaluation of spasticity

PhD thesis

Department of Exercise and Sport Sciences, Faculty of Science, University of Copenhagen

Department of Physiotherapy, Copenhagen University Hospital, Hvidovre

Department of Neurorehabilitation TBI Unit, Copenhagen University Hospital, Glostrup

Contents

Contents	5
Preface	7
Acknowledgements	9
English Summary	11
Dansk resumé	12
Thesis at a glance	13
List of publications and studies	15
List of key terms and abbreviations	16
Introduction and Background	17
Historical background of spasticity	17
The mechanisms behind spasticity	
Lesions leading to spasticity	
Measurements of muscle tone	
Biomechanical / electrophysiological approach	
Biomechanical / clinical approach	
Treatment of spasticity	
References	40
Summary of the research questions	
Summary and conclusion of the four studies	49
Conclusion	53
Paper I	55
Paper II	65
Paper III	79
Paper IV	119

Preface

This PhD thesis is based on work carried out since 2007 at the Departments of Neuroscience and Pharmacology and of Exercise and Sport Sciences, University of Copenhagen and at the Department of Physiotherapy, Hvidovre Hospital and Department of Neurorehabilitation TBI UNIT, Copenhagen University Hospital, Glostrup.

It is based on four experimental studies, two of which have been published and two have been submitted to peer-reviewed journals. Throughout the thesis, the studies are referred to by the Roman numerals I-IV. The experimental work of Study I was carried out at the Department of Neuroscience and Pharmacology, University of Copenhagen, while parts of Studies II-IV were carried out at:

- University Hospital Hvidovre, Copenhagen
- Clinic for Spinal Cord Injury, University Hospital Rigshospitalet Copenhagen
- The Multiple Sclerosis Hospital in Haslev, Denmark
- Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- Service de Réadaptation Polyvalente, Pitié-Salpêtrière Hospital, Paris, France.

This thesis contains an introduction to the field of spasticity, including a description of spasticity and the neurophysiological mechanisms involved. It also discusses the importance of the quantification of spasticity and describes some means of quantification. The results and conclusions from the four studies are presented in a separate chapter. Details of methods and statistics can be found at the end of this thesis, which also includes the complete versions of the published and submitted papers.

The studies were supported by:

The Danish Society of Multiple Sclerosis Research and Ludvig and Sara Elsass Foundation.

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank the participating patients and their relatives for their contributions to this work, but also for being the strongest motivators of all for me to continue in this research field.

A large number of collaborators and colleagues have contributed in different ways to the work described in this thesis, and I am very grateful to you all. The years of my PhD period have without any comparison been the most fascinating years in my professional life. However, I owe my supervisor Jens Bo Nielsen very special thanks for everything you have taught me – so far – and for the possibilities you have given me, as well as for interesting discussions and your endless patience. To me you are a great inspiration in the scientific field and in life. I also wish to express my gratitude to the staff at the Department of Physiotherapy, the Department of Traumatic Brain Injury, and the Research Unit for Neurorehabilitation, Hvidovre Hospital. I also especially wish to thank my co-supervisor Annette Nordenbo for supporting this thesis and for you encouragement. Also very special thanks are due to Jette Christensen and Marianne Telling for your priceless professional and personal support during good and rough times.

Thanks to everybody in the 'neural control of movement' research group. It has been a great pleasure to work with you and to get to know you. Special thanks to Mike Grey for collaboration, help and support during my PhD project. Also great thanks to my co-authors - without whom none of the projects would have made it through - Clarissa Crone, Svend Geertsen, Fin Biering-Sørensen, Dominique Mazevet, Monica Gorassini, Kelly Brunton, Karl Holm, Dorte Nielsen and Susanne Baagøe.

For financial support I wish most importantly to thank the Department of Physiotherapy, Hvidovre Hospital and the Department of Neurorehabilitation TBI Unit, Copenhagen University Hospital, Glostrup, Denmark for having generously supported this PhD project. Grants were received from the Research Fund of the Copenhagen Hospitals Corporation, Ludvig and Sara Elsass Foundation, the Danish Physiotherapy Association and The Danish Society of Multiple Sclerosis.

My thanks finally go to my family and friends for having patience with me and for listening to me when I needed it. The deepest thank to my beloved Sara for her patience and support of me in my strong need to spend a great part of my time on research and to Louisa, Adam and Julia - you have contributed to making this thesis my greatest challenge so far, but without you and your endless love I could not have done it, and I would have had no reason to do it – Thank you!

English Summary

Spasticity is a common manifestation of a lesion of the central motor pathways that in some cases interferes with motor function and affects quality of life. Different perceptions of spasticity among clinicians and researchers have led to confusion. Based on results from basic and clinical research, the aim of the work described in this thesis was to contribute to a clearer understanding of the rationale for distinguishing between different features of spasticity and to answer some of the questions related to its quantification.

The thesis summarizes the results of four studies which aimed to investigate and quantify 1) a single spinal mechanism with relation to spasticity Post Activation Depression (PAD) that is relevant for the development of hyperexcitable reflexes in spastic individuals 2) differences in reflex excitability measured clinically and by a combined electrophysiological and biomechanical method, 3) the reliability and sensitivity of a portable biomechanical method to measure spasticity 4) changes in spasticity due to physiotherapy treatment measured by clinical and biomechanical methods.

The first part of the thesis consists of a brief historical review of relevant mechanisms involved in spasticity. This section includes the results based on Study I that focuses on measurements of PAD and the biomechanical reaction to the identified electrophysiological phenomenon. The study shows that PAD is an important factor in the evaluation of stretch reflex excitability and muscle stiffness in spasticity that plays a role in its pathophysiology.

The second part of the thesis focuses on the distinction between increased muscle stiffness caused by increased reflex activity (active stiffness) and stiffness due to arthrogenic and myogenic changes (passive stiffness). The results from Study II based on measurement by an objective electrophysiological / biomechanical method show that the reflex-evoked torque was increased in spastic individuals. However, the clinical diagnosis of spasticity includes changes in both active and passive muscle properties, and the two can hardly be distinguished by a routine clinical examination. In Study III the results showed that a hand-held stiffness measurement device correlated well with measurements obtained by an objective electrophysiological / biomechanical device, had high intra- and inter-rater reliability, and could easily distinguish between spastic and control participants, but may have some practical problems that would not make it suitable as a clinical tool in the present form.

The third part of the thesis is based on the results of Study IV. Following treatments with Neurodynamics and Random Passive Movements (RPM) no significant reduction was found in stiffness measured with the hand-held device nor reduction in the clinical spasticity score. Significant increases in Range Of Motion (ROM) and a reduction in subjectively perceived muscle tone were found. For only one parameter (ROM) difference between the two treatments was found. The clinical measurements are highly dependent on the testers' awareness of the intervention.

The results contribute to a better understanding of the involvement of a spinal mechanism (PAD) in increased resistance to passive movements due to spasticity. The difficulties in clinical distinction between active and passive stiffness were also highlighted by the results of this study. In order to improve the clinical spasticity measurement methods there is need for further development of objective biomechanical clinically applicable methods. This is necessary for evaluation of the efficacy of anti-spastic treatments.

Dansk resumé

Spasticitet er et hyppigt symptom i forbindelse med læsion i centralnervesystemet som i visse tilfælde påvirker udførelse af motoriske funktioner samt livskvalitet. Forskellige opfattelser af spasticitet blandt klinikere og forskere har medført forvirring i forbindelse med begrebet. På baggrund af resultater fra basalforskning og klinisk forskning var formålet med arbejdet i denne afhandling at bidrage til en bedre forståelse af rationalet bag at skelne mellem forskellige elementer af spasticitet, samt at svare på nogle af spørgsmålene i forbindelse med kvantificering af spasticitet.

Afhandlingen opsummerer resultaterne fra fire studier, som havde til formål at kvantificere 1) en spinal mekanisme med relation til spasticitet Post Activation Depression (PAD) som er relevant for udviklingen af hyperrefleksi hos personer med spasticitet 2) forskelle i refleksaktivitet målt klinisk og med en kombineret biomekanisk og elektrofysiologisk metode 3) reliabiliteten og sensitiviteten for en håndholdt biomekanisk metode til at måle spasticitet 4) ændringer i spasticitet efter fysioterapeutiske behandlinger med neurodynamik målt klinisk og med en biomekanisk metode.

Den første del af afhandlingen består af en kort historisk gennemgang af begrebet spasticitet samt de involverede mekanismer. Denne sektion indeholder resultaterne baseret på Studie I, som fokuserer på måling af PAD og det biomekaniske respons på dette elektrofysiologiske fænomen. Studiet viser, at PAD spiller en rolle i patofysiologien bag spasticitet og er en vigtig faktor ved evaluering af refleksaktivitet og muskelstivhed i forbindelse med spasticitet.

Den anden del af afhandlingen fokuserer på adskillelsen af forøget muskelstivhed betinget af forøget refleksaktivitet (aktiv stivhed) og stivhed betinget af strukturelle ændringer i muskler og led (passiv stivhed). Resultaterne fra studie II, som baserer sig på måling med en objektiv elektrofysiologisk / biomekanisk metode, viser at den refleksbetingede stivhed var forøget hos personer med spasticitet. Imidlertid indeholder den kliniske diagnose spasticitet både forandringer i de aktive og passive komponenter af stivhed, og en adskillelse er meget vanskelig med en rutinemæssig klinisk undersøgelse. I studie III viste resultaterne, at målingerne med en håndholdt stivhedsmåler korrelerer godt med målingerne fra en objektiv elektrofysiologisk / biomekanisk målemetode, havde høj intra- og inter-rater reliabilitet og var i stand til at skelne mellem spastiske og raske forsøgsdeltagere, men har nogle praktiske problemer, som ikke gør den anvendelig som et klinisk redskab i den nuværende form.

Den tredje del er baseret på resultaterne fra studie IV. Efter behandling med neurodynamik og Random Passive Movements fandt vi ingen reduktion i stivhed målt med den håndholdte stivhedsmåler eller med et klinisk spasticitetsevalueringsredskab (MAS). Vi fandt signifikant forøgelse af Range Of Motion og reduktion af den subjektivt evaluerede tonus, men ingen parameter viste forskel mellem effekten af de to behandlinger. De kliniske målinger var i høj grad afhængige af, hvorvidt testeren var blindet i forhold til interventionen.

Resultaterne bidrager til en bedre forståelse af involveringen af den spinale mekanisme PAD I forhold til forøget modstand mod passive bevægelser på grund af spasticitet. Problemerne med at skelne aktiv og passiv stivhed blev understreget af resultaterne indeholdt i denne afhandling. Der er behov for yderligere udvikling af objektive klinisk anvendelige målemetoder til at forbedre klinisk spasticitetsmåling. Dette er nødvendigt til at kunne evaluere effekten af antispastiske behandlinger.

Thesis at a glance

Studies	Question	Methods	Answer
Ι	1) Are stretch	The stretch and H-reflex	1) H-reflexes were depressed to a
	reflexes reduced by	responses of 30 spastic	larger extent than the stretch
	post-activation	participants (with MS and spinal	reflexes in both healthy and spastic
	depression to the	cord injury (SCI)) were	individuals.
	same extent as H-	compared with those of 15	2) The stretch and H-reflex were
	reflexes?	healthy participants.	decreased as the interval between
	2) Are stretch		stimuli and perturbations decreased.
	reflexes and the		In spastic patients the PAD of both
	stretch-evoked torque		reflexes and the stretch-evoked
	less depressed by		torque were significantly smaller
	post-activation		than in healthy individuals.
	depression in people		
	with spasticity than		
	in healthy		
II	To what output and	Combined bigmeschenical and	Dearly, the eliminat diagnosis of
11	ro what extent are	combined biomechanical and	spasticity includes changes in both
	components of	measurements to distinguish	active and passive muscle properties
	muscle stiffness	passive and active contributions	and it is very difficult to tell the two
	distinguished	to ankle joint stiffness were	apart in a routine clinical
	clinically?	compared with clinical	examination
	ennieuny.	measurements in 31 healthy 10	crainination.
		stroke. 30 MS and 16 SCI	
		individuals.	
III	Can a portable device	Ankle and knee stiffness	The device correlated well with
	(Prochazka, 1997),	measurements were made twice	measurements obtained by a torque
	which provides an	by two raters, at speeds above	motor, had high intra- and inter-
	immediate value for	and below the stretch reflex	rater reliability, and could easily
	stiffness be reliable	threshold in 41 uninjured and 14	distinguish between spastic and
	and sensitive in	spastic SCI participants. Ankle	control participants.
	measuring ankle and	torque was measured with the	However, it may not have provided
	knee joint stiffness in	portable device and a stationary	an accurate measure of knee
	control participants	torque motor. Inter- and intra-	stiffness when the leg was moved
	and in spastic SCI	rater reliability was assessed	rapidly; and the shape of the air-
	participants?	with the intra-class correlation	interface with the log or fact
		coefficient.	interface with the leg of foot.
IV	Are the muscle tone	A randomized controlled study	No significant reduction in stiffness
1,	and range of motion	with crossover design was used	at any movement velocities or
	(ROM) changed in	to evaluate differences in muscle	amplitudes measured with the hand-
	TBI patients with	tone before and after treatments	held device. No reduction in the
	spasticity after	with ND and RPM in 10 TBI	clinical spasticity score (MAS). A
	treatments with ND	patients with spasticity. Tone	significant increase in ROM and a
	when measured	was measured with a hand-held	reduction in subjectively perceived
	clinically and with a	device and with clinical	muscle tone were found. For no

hand held device?	assessments.	parameter difference was found between the two treatments. The clinical measurements are highly
		dependent on the testers' awareness of the intervention.

List of publications and studies

This thesis is based on the following four papers, which are referred to by their respective Roman numerals.

Paper I

Grey MJ, Klinge K, Crone C, Lorentzen J, Biering-Sørensen F, Ravnborg M, Nielsen JB. Postactivation depression of soleus stretch reflexes in healthy and spastic humans. Exp Brain Res. 2008 Feb;185(2):189-97. Epub 2007 Oct 12.

Paper II

Lorentzen J, Grey MJ, Crone C, Mazevet D, Biering-Sørensen F, and Nielsen JB. Distinguishing active from passive components of ankle plantar flexor stiffness in stroke, spinal cord injury and multiple sclerosis. Clin Neurophysiol. 2010 May 8. [Epub ahead of print]

Paper III

Lorentzen J, Grey MJ, Geertsen SS, Biering-Sørensen F, Brunton K, Gorassini M and Nielsen JB. Assessment of a portable device for the quantitative measurement of spasticity in ankle and knee. Submitted to Clinical Neurophysiology.

Paper IV

Lorentzen J, Baagoe S, Nielsen D, Holm K, Grey MJ and Nielsen JB. Neurodynamics is no different from random passive movements in reducing spasticity. Submitted to Neurorehabil Neural Repair.

List of key terms and abbreviations

Active stiffness	The force required to lengthen a muscle which is active (i.e. the slope of the active force-displacement curve).	
AS	Ashworth Score	
CNS	Central Nervous System	
DTR	Dorsal reticulospinal tract	
EMG	Electromyography	
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid	
H-reflex	H-reflex is the electrical analogue to the mechanically induced spinal stretch reflex.	
Hyperreflexia	A greater than normal reflex response (e.g. the presence of reflex response when a relaxed muscle is stretched at the speed of normal movements).	
Hypertonia	A greater than normal resistance felt when moving a limb passively	
MAS	Modified Ashworth Score	
MS	Multiple Sclerosis	
ND	Neurodynamics	
Passive stiffness	The force required to lengthen a muscle at rest (i.e. the slope of the force-displacement curve).	
R1	The angle at which the first muscle reaction occurred during a passive movement.	
R2	The angle where further resistance or pain was registered and compensatory movements in the body were observed.	
ROM	Range of Motion	
RPM	Repeated Passive Movements	
SCI	Spinal Cord Injury	
TBI	Traumatic Brain Injury	
Tone	"the sensation of resistance felt as one manipulation of a joint through a range of motion, with the subject attempting to relax" by Lance and McLoud, 1981	

Introduction and Background

In many clinical fields a lack of knowledge and understanding of the fundamental physiological mechanisms of a clinical symptom has led to misunderstanding and imprecise communication among clinicians and to treatments that are not beneficial for patients. This is indeed the case for spasticity where several ways to define the term exist in the current literature even though it has been a topic of interest for clinicians and researchers for centuries (Pandyan et al., 2005).

Previous research and observations of the symptoms have contributed to our understanding of the phenomenon; however, a common definition and understanding between clinicians and researchers are still missing. The aim of this thesis is to contribute to a clearer understanding of the rationale for distinguishing between different features of spasticity and to answer some of the questions related to its quantification.

Historical background of spasticity

The first mentions of the term are from 1753 where "gout" was defined as a "spastic and painful affection" (web page 1). In 1822 the term spasticity was used as a synonym for "want of pliancy in the muscular fibres" (web page 2). The first dictionary description was of the Latin word "Spasticus" defined as "pull toward itself" (web page 3).

Physiologists have tried to describe the mechanisms behind the clinical symptom since 1841 when Marshall Hall made the first description of muscle activity that was independent of control by higher levels of the nervous system in decapitated frogs (Hall, 1841). What he saw was what we would now call reflex activity, or perhaps even rhythmical activity from the spinal cord, also called Central Pattern Generator. He described "tonus" as a "certain degree of firmness" of the muscles lost when the spinal cord is damaged. Todd differentiated between different types of stiffness,

where the so-called "early rigidity" (later called decorticate rigidity) was stiffness due to non-reflexproduced muscle contractions, and "late rigidity" was a combination of spasticity due to increase in reflexes and contractures caused by changes in the passive structures (Todd, 1855). Both elements in the "late rigidity" (stiffness due to reflex activity and contractures) were, according to Todd's findings, gradually developing but the distinction between the two components was not demonstrated until 1880, when Brissaud used a bandage to apply ischemia of the nerves in the limb (Brissaud, 1880). This allowed him to differentiate between the elements of "late rigidity" that depended on nervous function and those due to shortening of the muscles and other structures which is now recognized as contracture. Sechenov introduced the idea that increased reflex activity was a consequence of reduced cerebral inhibition (Sechenov, 1863). Haidenhain concluded that muscle "tone" was a consequence of reflex activity depending on tension (Bubnoff and Heidenhein, 1881). Gowers (1886) associated the increase of tendon reflexes with spasticity. In the late 19th and early 20th century Sherrington defined and elaborated the spinal reflexes and overactivity in the proprioceptive input as the underlying mechanisms for decerebrate rigidity based on animal experiments (Sherrington, 1906). He used the postural reflexes as an explanation for the term "muscle tone", but emphasized that a specification of the meaning was required every time it was used (Sherrington, 1915). Eccles was a student of Sherrington and worked in the following period with the improvements of research techniques that gave insight in the synaptic mechanisms of the spinal motorneurons (Eccles and Hoff, 1932). Spinal inhibitory mechanisms that influences the reflexes were subsequently clarified (Eccles, 1956).

Based on research by neurophysiologists and on observations from clinicians, the term spasticity was defined by Denny-Brown (1966) as:

"a soft yielding resistance that appeared only towards the end of a passive stretch and an increased amplitude stretch reflex".

A couple of decades later, as the result of a discussion after a conference, the definition of spasticity by Lance appeared as:

"a motor disorder characterized by a velocity-dependent increase in tonic stretch reflexes ('muscle tone') with exaggerated tendon jerks, resulting from hyper-excitability of the stretch reflex, as one component of the upper motor neuron lesion" (Lance, 1980).

In 2003, the North American Task Force for Childhood Motor Disorders made an attempt to improve the precision of the above definition, and suggested that spasticity should be redefined as:

"a velocity dependent increase in hypertonia with a catch when a threshold is exceeded" (Sanger et al., 2003).

The most recent definition is by the SPASM consortium (a European Thematic Network to Develop Standardized Measures of Spasticity), putting forward the argument that the currently used definition, that by Lance (1980), was too narrow for clinical purposes. They suggested that the definition should be widened to:

"disordered sensory-motor control, resulting from an upper motor neuron lesion, presenting as intermittent or sustained involuntary activation of muscles" (Pandyan et al., 2005).

There still seems to be no general agreement of a definition; a summary of the literature definitions of upper extremity spasticity showed that 31% of the references used the definition by Lance, 35% used "muscle tone", 3% used other definitions and 31% used no definition at all (Malhotra, 2009). One reason for these differences may be that there are two main approaches taken with respect to definition of spasticity. The narrow definition from Lance has not worked as well as it should since patients are being diagnosed as spastic without having increased reflexes. The definition by SPASM (Pandyan et al., 2005) takes the opposite approach, i.e. it attempts to provide a broad statement to catch all possible interpretations of the phenomenon even though different pathophysiology is behind the different symptoms. With this definition there is a risk of treating patients erroneously

because the different mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology are not taken into consideration. It is essential to distinguish between the different symptoms in the spasticity syndrome which require understanding of the pathophysiology. The only definition that makes that distinction is the one introduced by Lance.

The mechanisms behind spasticity

Our understanding of the mechanisms behind the increased reflexes (spasticity) after lesions in CNS was limited before the 1930s. However, technical improvements at that time made it possible to record EMG from individual motor units (Eccles and Hoff, 1932) and, with the introduction of monosynaptic test reflexes to assess motorneuronal excitability developed by Renshaw (1940), it became possible to measure the excitatory and inhibitory mechanisms influencing the activity in motorneurons (Renshaw, 1940, 1941). From this time until the 1960s important spinal mechanisms were identified. Two mechanisms appear to be of special interest when we discuss spasticity. Reciprocal inhibition, described by Sherrington at the end of the 19th century was, based on the new methods, more precisely described by Eccles et al. (1956) as a disynaptic inhibitory mechanism. He also described a depression of the monosynaptic reflex discharge due to presynaptic inhibition (Eccles et al., 1962). A schematic illustration of the mechanisms is shown in Fig. 1.



This figure illustrates some of the spinal mechanisms that are involved in controlling the size of the stretch reflex and which have been suggested to be involved in the pathophysiology of spasticity.

The mechanisms described were all based on experiments on animals. From the 1970s to the 1990s human studies were made to investigate the mechanisms that Eccles and others had found in cats. In healthy subjects reciprocal antagonist inhibition was found responsible for depression of activity in antagonistic muscles at the onset of and during movements (Kots and Zhukov, 1971; Tanaka, 1974; Crone, 1987, 1993; Crone and Nielsen, 1989, Crone et al., 1994; Panizza et al., 1995). Transmission in this pathway has been found to be decreased at rest in spastic patients with multiple sclerosis (Crone et al., 1994; Morita et al., 2001) and in hemiplegic patients (Artieda et al., 1991; Okuma and Lee 1996; Crone et al., 2000). Decreased reciprocal inhibition may thus be one of the pathophysiological mechanisms in spasticity, but none of these studies have been able to

demonstrate a correlation between the decrease of reciprocal inhibition and the severity of spasticity. This suggests that other mechanisms must be involved.

Other studies showed in the 1970s that vibration-induced inhibition of the monosynaptic stretch reflex was strongly reduced in spastic patients (Ashby and Verrier, 1975) and reduction in presynaptic inhibition is suggested as a mechanism that could result in increased tendon reflexes and possible spasticity (Delwaide and Pepin, 1993). Later, decreased presynaptic inhibition was demonstrated for the lower extremities in spastic MS patients (Nielsen et al., 1995) and spastic SCI patients (Faist et al., 1994) but not in spastic stroke patients (Faist et al., 1994) and in the upper extremities in spastic SCI patients (Aymard et al., 2000). Presynaptic inhibition is of special interest since knowledge of the influence of this specific mechanism on the stretch reflex activity leads to the idea that the reflex activity in spastic patients could be reduced by influencing the GABAergic transmission of the inhibitory interneuron. Diazepam was one of the first drugs used to influence the GABAergic transmission with the aim of increasing the presynaptic inhibition and thereby reducing spasticity. It was demonstrated as being effective in reducing spasticity as early as 1966 by Wilson & McKechine (1966), and later by Corbett et al. (1972). Later it was shown that, during muscle contractions in healthy people, different inhibitory mechanisms on reflexes such as reciprocal inhibition and presynaptic inhibition are removed (Nielsen et al., 2005). In spastic people a further decrease of presynaptic inhibition and reciprocal inhibition has not been found during contraction (Fig. 2) (Nielsen et al., 2005).



Fig. 2 Short-latency reflex behavior in passive and active muscle (from Dietz and Sinkjaer, 2007).

As mentioned above, it was widely believed in the 1970s and 1980s that spasticity was caused by increased transmitter release from the spindle afferents due to reduced presynaptic inhibition. This idea was supported by the demonstration of reduced inhibition of the soleus H-reflex by Achilles tendon vibration, believed to be caused by presynaptic inhibition of soleus Ia-afferents, in spastic humans (Ashby et al., 1974, 1975, 1976). However, later studies showed that vibratory inhibition is more likely caused by reduced spindle afferent transmitter release, probably due to their previous activation; this depression has subsequently been denoted as homosynaptic depression or post-activation depression (Nielsen et al., 1993, 1995; Aymard et al., 2000). Post-activation depression is therefore only seen when the Ia-afferents have been previously activated by a conditioning stimulus

(e.g. vibration, tendon tap, electrical nerve stimulation; Crone and Nielsen, 1989) and it is not widely distributed among all Ia-afferents in the leg as is the case for presynaptic inhibition (Hultborn et al., 1996). Usually, post-activation depression (and vibratory inhibition) is also observed for more than 10s following the conditioning stimulus, compared with only 300–400ms for presynaptic inhibition (Hultborn et al., 1996).

Post-activation depression was originally described by Curtis and Eccles (1960), who noticed that the size of Ia-excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) in intracellular recordings from lumbar spinal motorneurons in cats was frequency-dependent, with a facilitation at short intervals (<50ms), and with a depression at longer intervals (>1s). The depression of the monosynaptic Ia-EPSP results primarily from mechanisms operating within the presynaptic terminals related to the probability of transmitter release, which depends on the history of activation of the synapse (Lev-Tov and Pinco 1993).

The reduction of post-activation depression observed in spastic humans (Nielsen et al., 1993, 1995) and the temporal changes in the depression in the months following spinal cord injury mimic the changes that are observed with vibratory inhibition (Ashby et al. 1974, 1975, 1976) and the development of spasticity (Schindler-Ivens and Shields 2000). Reduced post-activation depression has also been demonstrated in the upper limbs of spastic individuals and, in general, it is well-correlated with hyperreflexia and spasticity (Aymard et al. 2000).

In previous studies, post-activation depression has been induced with mechanical or electrical activation of the soleus Ia-afferents and evaluated by changes in the H-reflex. It is generally assumed that such observations would also apply to the stretch reflex, which is obviously of more direct relevance for spasticity, given the definition proposed by Lance (1980). However, recent experiments in both humans and cats have demonstrated that H-reflexes are more sensitive to

changes in the efficiency of the Ia-afferent synapses than are stretch reflexes (Morita et al. 2001; Enriquez-Denton et al. 2002). The significance of post-activation depression for the manifestation of spasticity (i.e. stretch reflex hyperexcitability and increased muscle resistance to stretch) could therefore be questioned.

If post-activation depression of stretch reflexes and the stretch-evoked torque is an important mechanism underlying spasticity, it should be impaired in people with signs of spasticity.

The objective of Study I was therefore to investigate the possibility that (1) stretch reflexes are reduced by post-activation depression to the same extent as H-reflexes and that (2) stretch reflexes and the stretch-evoked torque are less depressed by post-activation depression in people with spasticity than in healthy individuals.

We used the H-reflex as a traditional electrophysiological method in combination with a second laboratory method that combines biomechanics and electrophysiology. The latter method was presumed to be more related to clinical methods of measuring spasticity since it quantifies biomechanically and electrophysiologically the stretch reflex based on movements of the ankle (as done in the clinic) as opposed to the H-reflex that is an indirect measure of the stretch reflex. We therefore wanted to investigate whether the electrophysiological differences in PAD found in healthy and spastic individuals were reflected in the results when a biomechanical approach was applied.

The study demonstrated that the magnitude of the soleus stretch reflex and H-reflex decreased as the interval between the stimulus and perturbation was decreased. Similarly, the resistance evoked by the stretch reflex decreased with decrease in perturbation intervals. PAD measured by all three parameters (magnitude of H-reflex, stretch reflex and resistance evoked by the stretch reflex) was found to be significantly smaller in spastic participants than in healthy ones.

These results confirm previous findings about reduction in PAD in spastic individuals compared to healthy ones when measured electrophysiologically (Nielsen, 1993, 1995; Aymard, 2000; Schindler-Ivens and Shields, 2000). However, the measurements with the biomechanical/electrophysiological method also show that the decreased post-activation depression in spastic individuals influences the manifestation of spasticity in the form of increased stretch reflex activity and muscle stiffness. It may therefore influence the result of the clinical testing of spasticity with for example the AS. In the clinical evaluation of spasticity, the examiner is likely to induce passive movements in this frequency range rather than at intervals of more than 10s, which would be necessary to avoid post-activation depression. Based on our findings the clinician would therefore be more likely to diagnose spasticity when using rapid movements repeated at short intervals. In our study the stretch-evoked torque correlated significantly to the AS, but for PAD an insignificant trend to correlation to the AS was found. This could be due to lack of sensitivity of the clinical score to small changes in muscle stiffness, or other parameters not related to reflexes such as increased passive stiffness by arthrogenic and myogenic changes in the joint that are likely to contribute to the spastic participants' muscle stiffness and thereby complicate the clinical evaluation. As mentioned above, reduced PAD is unlikely to be the only pathophysiological mechanism in spasticity. Our results support this statement, since a significant difference between stretch reflexes (and muscle stiffness) in the spastic and in the healthy individuals were also seen at stimulus intervals of 15s, where PAD had no effect on the evoked responses.

Lesions leading to spasticity

Even though spasticity is a well-known clinical syndrome, most commonly arising after stroke, multiple sclerosis, spinal cord injury, some traumatic brain injuries, and other central nervous system (CNS) lesions, the specific areas in the brain responsible for the increased muscle tone observed in spastic patients have been discussed for many years. Based on experiments with

monkeys, Fulton and Kennard claimed in 1934 that a certain area in the pre-motor cortex was responsible for spasticity, and in 1940 Sarah Tower found absence of spasticity after section of the pyramids in the medulla (Tower, 1940). Electrical stimulation of the para-pyramidal fibres above the level of the medulla or the inhibitory DTR areas in cats has been demonstrated to reduce tone in rigid and spastic muscles (Magoun and Rhines, 1947) as well as to decrease reflex activity by inhibition of the afferents (Whitlock, 1990). However, the translation of the findings from the animal studies to humans was difficult. The decerebrate model used in cats, and developed by Sherrington, was for obvious reasons not usable in humans, therefore the only possibility was to investigate people with increase in muscle tone following change in the activity of the descending pathways due to diseases or lesions in the CNS. However in the 1990s, human studies were made with cordotomies for relief of the pain of cancer with observation of the following clinical symptoms. These studies showed that lesions in the pyramidal tract in combination with lesions in the reticulospinal fibres caused paralysis in the associated limb followed by severe spastic paresis (Nathan, 1994). In contrast, isolated lesions of the pyramidal tract in humans confirmed the results from cats where no spasticity was found (Nathan, 1994; Tower, 1940). The importance of the extrapyramidal tract in relation to the development of spasticity was further emphasized in the human study by the finding that the closer to the extrapyramidal tract the lesions were the more likely the patients were to show spasticity (Nathan, 1994). As a consequence, the term "pyramidal syndrome" should not be used in relation to spasticity, but, if used at all, it could be used as a description of the symptoms related to selective pyramidal lesions: mild hand and foot weakness, mild tendonreflexia, normal tone and an extensor plantar response (Bucy et al., 1964; van Gijn, 1978).

The para-pyramidal fibres from the pre-motor cortex have contact with the areas in the mid-brain that facilitate inhibitory areas in the medulla known as the ventromedial reticular formation (Brown,

1994). In this way, a lesion in the CNS can disturb the balance of supraspinal inhibitory and excitatory inputs and produce a state of net disinhibition of the spinal reflexes. The level of spasticity will therefore depend more on the extent to which the above mentioned structures are affected than the actual aetiology. However, the change in spinal reflex excitability cannot simply be due to an imbalance in supraspinal control. The delayed onset after the lesion and the frequent reduction in reflex excitability over time suggest plasticity in the CNS as described in the previous section.

The extra-pyramidal or para-pyramidal fibres are located close to the pyramidal fibres (Fig. 3). However, it is important to distinguish between these fibres and other extra-pyramidal fibres such as the ones from the basal ganglias that produce rigidity (or dystonia). In the clinical settings, however, almost no lesions are specifically located in areas that cause spasticity as the only symptom, and a consequence is that the clinical manifestation of a lesion includes several symptoms with different pathophysiology.



Fig. 3 Organization of the pyramidal and extra-pyramidal tracts in the spinal cord.

Measurements of muscle tone

New drug treatments such as botulinum toxin and baclofen provide incentives to evaluate the efficacy of the treatments by measuring changes in spasticity. Perhaps it is even more important to have valid methods to quantify spasticity as a prelude to clinical diagnosis when a drug treatment could follow.

The clinical decisions in relation to treatment should optimally be based on knowledge about which component is causing the hypertonicity. Is it muscle activity or is it the passive (mechanical) properties? If it is the active components then drug treatment could be considered whereas no effect will be found if the passive components are the reason for the hypertonicity (Table 1).

Factors causing hypertonicity					
Active stiffness			Passive stiffness (Contracture)		
Afferent (disinhibited spinal		Efferent (tonic	Arthrogenetic changes	Myogenetic changes	
renexes)		drive)	enanges	changes	
Proprioceptive	Cutaneous and	(Spastic)	Intra-articular	Loss of sacromers	
reflexes	nociceptive	dystonia	adhesion formation	in series	
	reflexes				
Spasticity (tonic)	Flexor	Associated	Adaptive shortening	Increased intra-	
	withdrawal	reactions	of periarticular	muscular collagen	
	reflexes		connective tissue		
Tendon	Flexor spasms	Co-contraction	Reduced lubrication	Disuse atrophy	
hyperreflexia and			between collagen		
Clonus (phasic)			fibres		
Clasp knife	Clasp knife		Increased immature	Muscle fibre	
syndrome	(with tonic		collagen	transformation ST	
	stretch reflex)			to FT	
	Extensor			Degenerative	
	reflexes			changes in muscle-	
				tendinous junction	
	Extensor			Increased actine-	
	spasms			myosin cross-	
				bridge linkage	

Table 1. Summary of the elements that contribute to muscle tone. (Table modified from Sheean, 2002 and Singer et al., 2001).

The definition of spasticity by Lance (1980) focuses on the velocity-dependent nature of reflex excitability. This feature can assist the clinician in differentiating spasticity from stiffness caused by the passive structures (contracture) and spasticity from dystonia (Table 2) (Fig. 4).

	Spasticity	Dystonia	Rigidity	Contracture
Summary	Velocity-	Sustained or	Independent of	Independent
	dependent	intermittent	both speed and	of velocity
	resistance	muscle	posture	
		contractions		
Effect of increasing	Increases	No effect	No effect	No effect
speed of passive				
movement on resistance				
Effect of rapid reversal	Delayed	Immediate	Immediate	No effect
of direction on resistance				
Presence of a fixed	Only in severe	Yes	No	Yes
posture	cases			
Effect of voluntary	Minimal	Yes	Minimal	No effect
activity on pattern of				
activated muscles				
Effect of behavioural	Minimal	Yes	Minimal	No effect
task and emotional state				
on pattern of activated				
muscles				

Table 2 Comparison chart of principal differentiation diagnostic features (modified from Sanger, 2003)



Fig. 4. The elements that contribute to increased resistance to passive movements in individuals with CNS lesions.

The stiffness arising from muscle activity is called active stiffness. Both reflex stiffness and stiffness caused by dystonia are manifested by muscle activity causing resistance to passive movements, but where reflex stiffness is sensitive to the afferent stimuli (velocity at which the movements are being made), dystonia manifests itself by continuous muscle contraction without limb movement, and is not mediated by the afferent input from the limb (Denny-Brown, 1966).

Passive stiffness is the resistance felt in a limb during a movement with no muscle activity. This is normally the situation when normal individuals are having their limbs moved manually when they are relaxed. However, in people with a CNS lesion, contractures are a well-known complication that reduces the range of motion of a joint. Over the last two decades, researchers have determined that non-reflex factors also contribute significantly to hypertonia (Dietz et al., 1981; Lorentzen et al., 2010) but they are clinically different and should be distinguished from each other. The passive stiffness reflects both the non-contractile (passive) and the contractile (intrinsic) properties of the musculo-tendinous unit (Singer et al., 2001). Changes in passive stiffness are thought to result from modifications in the rheological properties of the musculo-tendinous unit and surrounding connective tissues in addition to changes occurring within the joint itself (Singer et al., 2001). Intrinsic stiffness reflects the mechanical properties of the active motor units and is likely to be affected by the number of cross-bridge formations, even while the muscle is relaxed, and their rate of detachment during muscle stretch (Table 2) (Singer et al., 2001).

The clinical quantification of spasticity such as the AS (Ashworth, 1964) or MAS (Bohannon and Smith, 1987) are based on judgment of the resistance of the limb to manually imposed movements. One problem with these methods is that the evaluators must be able to distinguish between stiffness caused by neuronal activity and stiffness caused by passive elastic properties in the muscle, tendon and joints (passive and active stiffness). This has been demonstrated to be a very difficult task with

questionable reliability (Pandyan et al., 2003; O'Dwyer et al., 1996; Dietz and Sinkjær, 2007; Galiana et al., 2005; Malhotra et al., 2008; Biering-Sørensen et al., 2006; Lorentzen et al., 2010). The newly introduced Tardieu Scale emphasizes the use of different test velocities in accordance with Lance's definition, but this is problematic because of the difficulty in "judging" different velocities and joint angles in a clinical test situation (Biering-Sørensen et al., 2006; Malhotra et al., 2008).

The spasticity definition from Lance (1980) emphasizes the role of active reflex mechanisms in the generation of spasticity. Paradoxically, several studies have failed to find evidence of changes in active reflex mechanisms in individuals designated as spastic on clinical examination (Dietz, 1981, 1983; Lehmann et al., 1989; Dietz et al, 1991; Toft et al., 1993; Sinkjaer et al., 1993, 1994). These studies have instead raised the possibility that much of what is considered clinically as spasticity may in fact be caused by changes in passive muscle properties. If this is correct, there exists a risk that many patients will receive antispastic medication in vain, because the currently available antispastic medication acts to reduce reflex hyperactivity while having no effect on passive muscle properties. Different types of physical therapy would also be implemented if it were known that the increased muscle stiffness in a given individual was caused by passive muscle properties rather than by active reflex properties. Therefore there is a need to separate spasticity as defined by Lance (1980) from other related symptoms in order to avoid treating the spastic patient erroneously.

Biomechanical / electrophysiological approach

In contrast to current clinical scoring systems, biomechanical measures can provide an objective and easily quantifiable separation of passive and active contributions to muscle stiffness (Knuttson and Mårtensson, 1980; Sinkjaer et al., 1993, 1994; Mirbagheri et al. 2001; Galiana et al. 2005). Such techniques may lead towards a more objective *gold standard* against which clinical scoring

systems could be evaluated and possibly also help in the development of more efficient tools for clinical evaluation of muscle stiffness.

In Study II we therefore combined biomechanical and electrophysiological measures to distinguish between passive and active contributions to ankle joint stiffness. We then compared the results obtained with clinical estimates of ankle joint stiffness in order to identify the extent to which passive and active components of muscle stiffness are distinguished clinically.

We found significantly increased reflex stiffness in the overall spastic population of stroke, MS and SCI participants regardless of the origin of spasticity and length of time since injury or onset of disease. Similar results were also found in some studies (Jansen, 1962; Gottlieb et al., 1978; Broberg and Grimby, 1983; Mirbagheri et al., 2001, 2007) whereas others found no increase in reflex excitability in spastic individuals (Sinkjaer et al., 1993; Lehmann et al., 1989; Sinkjaer and Magnussen, 1994). At the same time, we found higher passive stiffness in spastic compared to non-spastic participants and, among the former, only in spastic stroke participants was the difference significant compared to healthy controls. Increased passive stiffness was also found in previous studies with similar biomechanical evaluation methods (Dietz et al., 1981; Dietz and Berger, 1983; Hufschmidt and Mauritz, 1985; Lehmann et al., 1989; Thilmann et al., 1991; Sinkjaer et al., 1993; Sinkjaer and Magnussen, 1994; Toft et al., 1993).

The objective biomechanical evaluation agreed in only 64% of cases with clinical evaluation on whether the reflex activity was increased or not. Despite a significant correlation between the stretch-evoked reflex torque and the AS a very large overlap was found, especially for AS 0-2. We conclude that passive and active components of ankle joint stiffness cannot be reliably distinguished

in the clinic with the present evaluation techniques. This potentially has the consequence that patients are being diagnosed incorrectly and thus treated erroneously.

Accordingly, there is a need for evaluation techniques which have the objective quantitative characteristics as the method used in this study, but also with practical characteristics such as ease of use, feasibility of use at the bed side and provision of immediate results.

Biomechanical / clinical approach

Elements such as velocity, measurement of reflex onset and resistance against a passive movement can be controlled very precisely in a laboratory setting as mentioned above where assessments of torque and muscle activity (EMG) can provide a reliable, objective and quantifiable separation of passive and active contributions to muscle stiffness (Knuttson and Mårtensson, 1980; Sinkjaer et al., 1993, 1994; Lorentzen et al., 2010). However, these methods are not easily applied in a clinical setting because they are time-consuming, expensive and require space, and are not always well-tolerated by patients. Therefore, there is a need for a portable device that can provide a quantification of muscle stiffness in a clinical setting with the qualities of stationary biomechanical devices.

Quantification of joint stiffness by portable hand-held devices has been reported for the ankle in children with cerebral palsy (CP) (Boiteau, 1995; Malouin, 1989) and in SCI participants (Lamontagne, 1998), in the knee in different neurological pathologies (Lebiedowska, 2009; Stein, 1996), in the elbow joint in individuals with stroke (Lee, 2002; 2004; Chen, 2005) and with Parkinson's Disease (Prochazka et al., 1997).

For the ankle, there appears to be no direct reliable correlation between the measured stiffness for the hand-held dynamometers and a quantitative stationary device (Malouin et al., 1989;

Lamontagne et al., 1998). Different resistive torques and a high degree of variability were found in the results obtained with the two methods (Malouin et al., 1989; Lamontagne et al., 1998).

Test-retest reproducibility of the resistive torque measured with hand-held devices has generally been demonstrated to be high (Boiteau et al, 1995; Malouin et al., 1989, Lamontagne et al., 1998), but inter-rater reliability has been investigated in only a few studies (Malouin et al., 1989; Dvir et al., 1991). Malouin et al. (1989) found a large variability between raters for stiffness measured during slow and fast ankle movements in 20 spastic individuals (ICC: 0.62; 0.59), whereas Dvir et al. (1991) found a high inter-rater reliability (ICC > 0.89) when measuring the resistive force of plantar flexors in CP children.

These variable results are one reason why portable devices that measure stiffness have not been adopted in the clinical setting. In addition, most of the hand-held devices consist of either a myometer or a hand-held strain gauge with electrogoniometry as two separate devices that require offline analysis in order to obtain a measure, which is not practical in a clinical setting.

In Study III we investigated the reproducibility and sensitivity in measuring ankle and knee joint stiffness in control participants and spastic, SCI participants using a portable device (Prochazka et al., 1997), which integrates these two components and provides an immediate value for stiffness. This device was originally developed to test rigidity of arm muscles in individuals with Parkinson's disease (Prochazka et al., 1997), but its design makes it also potentially suitable for evaluating leg stiffness in individuals with spasticity.

We found that stiffness measured with the portable and stationary devices were significantly correlated. The intra-rater reliability was 0.78-0.89 (SCI) and 0.63-0.67 (control) for the ankle, and 0.86-98 (SCI) and 0.81-0.91 (control) for the knee. Inter-rater reliability was 0.70-0.73 (SCI) and 0.61-0.77 (control) for the ankle, and 0.80-0.96 (SCI) and 0.53-0.78 (control) for the knee. Joint

stiffness measures for SCI participants were significantly higher than for control participants when stiffness was measured at movements with slow velocities (p<0.05) and at fast velocities. Stiffness measures for fast ankle movements were higher than for slow movements in SCI, but not for the controls.

The device's correlation with measures obtained by an objective biomechanical method, high intraand inter-rater reliability, and ability to distinguish easily between spastic and control participants, demonstrates that a portable device may be a useful diagnostic tool for measurement of spasticity. However, problems in terms of practical use, and the fact that the inertial component of stiffness was not included in the calculations, may provide inaccurate stiffness measures of the knees especially when the leg is moved rapidly. Therefore, improvements in the device should be made before it can be used in the routine clinical testing of spasticity.

Treatment of spasticity

Increased muscle tone causes spastic muscles to resist stretch and to remain shortened for long durations. Prolonged muscle shortening leads to joint deformation and changes in the intrinsic properties of soft tissues and muscle fibres, which in turn restrict the range of motion (Barnes, 2008) and diminish the functional use of residual voluntary movements in individuals with CNS lesions. These changes contribute a biomechanical component, in addition to the neural components, to the disability resulting from spasticity. Whereas antispastic drugs act on the neural component of spasticity, physiotherapy can minimize the biomechanical side effects. Intensive, daily passive muscle stretching assists in reducing muscle tone and in maintaining joint mobility and range of motion. Orthoses are used to hold the limb in positions that resist contractures. Exercises are performed to strengthen the spastic and synergistic muscles (Barnes, 2008). New studies appear to have demonstrated an impact due to immobilization or training on the spinal mechanisms that are changed in spastic patients. Immobilization of healthy subjects has been demonstrated to increase

reflex activity (Lundby-Jensen and Nielsen, 2008) whereas strength training appears to increase the reciprocal inhibition (Geertsen et al., 2008).

Drug treatment to reduce muscle tone is used as a routine treatment in the clinic. However, the rationale for using drugs to reduce the reflex excitability seems to be questionable since active reflexes are essential when voluntary movements are being performed. It has been shown that an increase of reflex excitability is taking place in healthy individuals during activity (Nielsen et al., 2005), which makes hyperactive reflexes a problem that mainly exists when patients are being tested at rest.

Neurodynamics (ND) is a therapeutic concept based on the idea that the mechanoreceptors and their connectivity to the central nervous system can be clinically assessed and treated by mobilization of the nervous system (Butler, 2000; Shacklock, 1995). According to the ND theory, the assessment can be done by the so-called neural tension tests where passive mobilizations of the extremities are supposed to provoke (stretch) the peripheral nervous system. The response to the test is thought to give information about the mobility of the nerves in relation to the surrounding tissues and physiological abnormalities such as ischemia and inflammation in the nerves (Jaberzadeh et al., 2005; Shacklock, 1995). The lack of mobility of the nervous systems in relation to the surrounding structures (the so-called mechanical stresses) is suggested to be caused by variations in blood flow, axonal transport and impulse traffic (Shacklock, 1995).

The primary treatment objective for ND is thus to restore the natural movement of the neural tissue and surrounding mechanical tissue and thereby reduce the intrinsic pressure on the neural tissue and so to regain natural physiological function (Butler, 2000, Shacklock, 1995). The treatment consists of manually induced movements of the limbs with the purpose of performing the so-called "nerve gliding exercises". These exercises are thought to induce "sliding of the nerves relative to the

surrounding structures by elongation of the structures that surrounds the nerves" (Coppienters and Butler, 2008).

The efficacy of ND in terms of pain reduction has been investigated in individuals with Carpal Tunnel Syndrome (Baysal et al., 2006; Pinard et al., 2005; Tal-Akabi and Rushton, 2000; Akalin et al., 2002), with low back pain (Cleland et al., 2005) and with cervicobrachial neurogenic pain (Coppieters and Butler, 2008). The efficacy illustrated in these studies is not conclusive; a recent systematic review of the therapeutic efficacy of neural mobilization found that there was a lack of quality studies on this topic and concluded that there is limited evidence to support treatment efficacy of ND (Ellis et al., 2008). To our knowledge only one small study, with five subjects and without any control group, has investigated the use of ND as an antispastic treatment in patients with damage to the CNS (Godio et al., 2010). The results suggest a small reduction in muscle activity after the ND treatment. Although the ND method thus appears not to have been validated scientifically for use in patients with damage to the CNS, it is nevertheless used extensively in neurological rehabilitation centres throughout Europe by physiotherapists with the aim of reducing muscle tone and increasing range of motion (ROM) in patients with brain injury.

In Study IV we investigated the effect of ND in relation to change in muscle tone and ROM by a hand-held device in TBI patients with spasticity defined as "velocity-dependent increase in tonic stretch reflexes to phasic stretch, in the absence of voluntary activity" (Lance 1980).

We found no significant change in stiffness measured with the portable stiffness measure device when measured with fast or slow movements. However, a trend to a reduction in stiffness was found when tested at slow velocities. Furthermore no change in the clinical spasticity score (MAS) was found. An increase in ROM was found for the R1 for both treatments whereas ROM for R2 was increased only after the ND treatment. Furthermore, no differences between the two treatments were found for any of the measured parameters.

Thus, ND seems not to be effective in reducing spasticity when evaluated objectively, but may increase ROM in the knee flexors to the same extent as random passive movements.

References

Akalin E, El O, Peker O, Senocak O, Tamci S, Gülbahar S, Cakmur R, Oncel S. Treatment of carpal tunnel syndrome with nerve and tendon gliding exercises. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2002; 81(2):108-13.

Artieda J, Quesada P, Obeso JA. Reciprocal inhibition between forearm muscles in spastic hemiplegia. Neurology 1991; 41(2):286-9.

Ashby P, Verrier M, Lightfoot E. Segmental reflex pathways in spinal shock and spinal spasticity in man. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1974; 37(12):1352–1360.

Ashby P, Verrier M. Neurophysiological changes following spinal cord lesions in man. Can J Neurol Sci 1975; 2(2):91–100.

Ashby P, Verrier M. Neurophysiologic changes in hemiplegia. Possible explanation for the initial disparity between muscle tone and tendon reflexes. Neurology 1976; 26(12):1145–1151.

Ashworth B. Preliminary trial of cardioprodal in multiple sclerosis. Practitioner 1964; 192:540-2.

Ashby P, Verrier M. Neurophysiological changes following spinal cord lesions in man. Can J Neurol Sci 1975; 2(2):91-100.

Aymard C, Katz R, Lafitte C, Lo E, Penicaud A, Pradat-Diehl P, Raoul S. Presynaptic inhibition and homosynaptic depression: a comparison between lower and upper limbs in normal human subjects and patients with hemiplegia. Brain 2000; 123(8):1688–1702.

Barnes M. An overview of the clinical management of spasticity. In Barnes M, Johnson G. eds. Upper motor neuron syndrome and spasticity: clinical management and neurophysiology, second edition. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2008.

Baysal O, Altay Z, Ozcan C, Ertem K, Yologlu S, Kayhan A. Comparison of three conservative treatment protocols in carpal tunnel syndrome. Int J Clin Pract 2006; 60(7):820-8.

Biering-Sørensen F, Nielsen JB, Klinge K. Spasticity-assessment: a review. Spinal Cord 2006; 44(12):708–22.

Bohannon RW, Smith MB. Interrater reliability of a modified Ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. Phys Ther 1987; 67(2):206-7.

Boiteau M, Malouin F, Richards CL. Use of a hand-held dynamometer and a Kin.Com dynamometer for evaluating spastic hypertonia in children: a reliability study. Phys Ther 1995; 75:796-802.

Brissaud E. Recherches Anatomo-patologigues et Physiologiques sur la Contracture Permanente des Hemiplegiques, 1880.

Broberg C, Grimby G. Measurement of torque during passive and active ankle movements in patients with muscle hypertonia. A methodological study. Scand J Rehabil Med Suppl 1983; 9:108–17.

Brown P. Pathophysiology of spasticity (editorial). J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1994; 57:773-7.

Bubnoff N and Heidenhein R. Über Erregungs- und Hemmungsvorgange innerhalb der motorischen Hirncentern. Arch Ges Physiol 1881; 26:137-200.

Bucy PC, Keplinger JE, Siquerira EB. Destruction of the 'pyramidal tract' in man. J Neurosurg 1964; 21:385-98.

Butler DS. The Sensitive Nervous System. Adelaide, Australia: Noigroup Publications, 2000.

Chen JJ, Wu YN, Huang SC, Lee HM, Wang YL. The use of a portable muscle tone measurement device to measure the effects of botulinum toxin type a on elbow flexor spasticity. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2005; 86(8):1655-60.

Cleland JA, Childs JD, Palmer JA, Eberhart S. Slump stretching in the management of non-radicular low back pain: a pilot clinical trial. Man Ther 2006; 11(4):279-86.

Coppieters MW, Butler DS. Do 'sliders' slide and 'tensioners' tension? An analysis of neurodynamic techniques and considerations regarding their application. Man Ther 2008; 13(3):213-21.

Corbett M, Frankel HL, Michaelis L. A double blind, cross-over trial of Valium in the treatment of spasticity. Paraplegia 1972; 10(1):19-22.

Crone C. The Malpighi lecture. From 'Porositates carnis' to cellular microcirculation (Review). Int J Microcirc Clin Exp. 1987; 6(2):101-22.

Crone C, Nielsen J. Methodological implications of the post activation depression of the soleus H-reflex in man. Exp Brain Res 1989; 78(1):28–32.

Crone C. Reciprocal inhibition in man. Dan Med Bull. 1993 Nov;40(5):571-81. Review.

Crone C, Nielsen J, Petersen N, Ballegaard M, Hultborn H. Disynaptic reciprocal inhibition of ankle extensors in spastic patients. Brain 1994; 117(5):1161–1168.

Crone C, Johnsen LL, Nielsen J. Reciprocal inhibition in hemiplegic patients - a longitudinal study. Suppl Clin Neurophysiol 2000; 53:187-91.

Curtis DR, Eccles JC. Synaptic action during and after repetitive stimulation. J Physiol 1960; 150:374–398.

Delwaide PJ, Pepin JL, Maertens de Noordhout A. Contribution of reticular nuclei to the pathophysiology of parkinsonian rigidity. Adv Neurol 1993; 60:381-5.

Denny-Brown D. The cerebral control of movement. Liverpool: Liverpool University Press, 1966.

Dietz V, Quintern J, Berger W. Electrophysiological studies of gait in spasticity and rigidity. Evidence that altered mechanical properties of muscle contribute to hypertonia. Brain 1981; 104(3):431-49.

Dietz V, Berger W. Normal and impaired regulation of muscle stiffness in gait: a new hypothesis about muscle hypertonia. Exp Neurol 1983; 79(3):680–7.

Dietz V, Sinkjaer T. Spastic movement disorder: impaired reflex function and altered muscle mechanics. Lancet Neurol 2007; 6(8):725–33.

Dietz V, Quintern J, Berger W. Electrophysiological studies of gait in spasticity and rigidity. Evidence that altered mechanical properties contribute to hypertonia. Brain 1981; 104:431-449.

Dietz V, Trippel M, Berger W. Reflex activity and muscle tone during elbow movements in patients with spastic paresis. Ann Neurol 1991; 30(6):767–79.

Dvir Z, Arbel N, Bar-Haim S. The use of hand-held dynamometry for measuring the effect of shortleg tone reducing cast on the passive compliance of calf muscles in children with cerebral palsy. J Neurol Rehabil 1991; 5:229-234.

Eccles JC, Fatt P, Landgren S. Central pathway for direct inhibitory action of impulses in largest afferent nerve fibres to muscle. J Neurophysiol 1956; 19(1):75-98.

Eccles JC, Hoff HE. The rhythmic discharges of motoneurones. Proc R Soc 1932; B110:438-514.

Eccles JC, Schmidt RF and Willis WD. Presynaptic inhibition of the spinal monosynaptic reflex pathway, J. Physiol 1962; 161:282–297.

Ellis RF, Hing WA. Neural mobilization: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials with an analysis of therapeutic efficacy. J Man Manip Ther 2008; 16(1):8-22.

Enriquez-Denton M, Morita H, Christensen LO, Petersen N, Sinkjaer T, Nielsen JB. Interaction between peripheral afferent activity and presynaptic inhibition of Ia afferents in the cat. J Neurophysiol 2002; 88(4):1664–1674.

Faist M, Mazevet D, Dietz V, Pierrot-Deseilligny E. A quantitative assessment of presynaptic inhibition of Ia afferents in spastics. Differences in hemiplegics and paraplegics. Brain 1994; 117(6):1449-55.

Fulton JF and Kennard MA. A study of flaccid and spastic paralyses produced by lesions of the cerebral cortex in primates. Res Publ Assoc Nerv Ment Dis 1934; 13:158-210.

Galiana L, Fung J, Kearney R. Identification of intrinsic and reflex ankle stiffness components in stroke patients. Exp Brain Res 2005; 165(4):422–34.

Geertsen SS, Lundbye-Jensen J, Nielsen JB. Increased central facilitation of antagonist reciprocal inhibition at the onset of dorsiflexion following explosive strength training. J Appl Physiol 2008; 105(3):915-22.

Godoi J, Kerppers II, Rossi LP, Corrêa FI, Costa RV, Corrêa JC, Oliveira CS. Electromyographic analysis of biceps brachii muscle following neural mobilization in patients with stroke. Electromyogr Clin Neurophysiol 2010; 50(1):55-60.

Gottlieb GL, Agarwal GC, Penn R. Sinusoidal oscillation of the ankle as a means of evaluating the spastic patient. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1978; 41(1):32–9.

Gowers WR. A Manual of Diseases of the Nervous System. London: Churchill, 1886.

Hall M. On the Diseases and Derangements of the Nervous System. London: Baillière, 1841.

Hufschmidt A, Mauritz KH. Chronic transformation of muscle in spasticity: a peripheral contribution to increased tone. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1985; 48(7):676–85.

Hultborn H, Illert M, Nielsen J, Paul A, Ballegaard M, Wiese H. On the mechanism of the postactivation depression of the H-reflex in human subjects. Exp Brain Res 1996; 108(3):450–462.

Jaberzadeh S, Scutter S and Nazeran H. Mechanosensitivity of the median nerve and mechanically produced motor responses during Upper Limb Neurodynamic Test 1. Physiotherapy 2005; 91:94-100.

Jansen JK. Spasticity-functional aspects. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl 1962; 38(3):41-51.

Kirshblum S. Treatment for spinal cord injury related spasticity. J Spinal Cord Med 1999; 22:199–217.

Knutsson E, Mårtensson A. Dynamic motor capacity in spastic paresis and its relation to prime mover dysfunction, spastic reflexes and antagonist coactivation. Scand J Rehabil Med 1980; 12:93–106.

Kots IaM, Zhukov VI. Superspinal control of segmentary centers of muscle-antagonists in man. 3. "Tuning" of a spinal apparatus of reciprocal inhibition during organization of voluntary movement. Biofizika 1971; 16(6):1085-92.

Lance JW. Symposium synopsis. In: Feldman RG, Young RR, Koella WP, editors. 712 Spasticity: disordered motor control. Chicago: Year Book Medical; 1980. p. 485–94.

Lamontagne A, Malouin F, Richards CL, Dumas F. Evaluation of reflex- and nonreflex-induced muscle resistance to stretch in adults with spinal cord injury using hand-held and isokinetic dynamometry. Phys Ther 1998; 78(9):964-75.

Lebiedowska MK, Fisk JR. Knee resistance during passive stretch in patients with hypertonia. J Neurosci Methods 2009; 179(2):323-30.

Lee HM, Huang YZ, Chen JJ, Hwang IS. Quantitative analysis of the velocity related pathophysiology of spasticity and rigidity in the elbow flexors. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2002; 72(5):621-9.

Lee HM, Chen JJ, Ju MS, Lin CC, Poon PP. Validation of portable muscle tone measurement device for quantifying velocity-dependent properties in elbow spasticity. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2004; 14(5):577-89.

Lehmann JF, Price R, deLateur BJ, Hinderer S, Traynor C. Spasticity: quantitative measurements as a basis for assessing effectiveness of therapeutic intervention. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1989; 70(1):6–15.

Lev Tov A, Pinco M. In vitro studies of prolonged synaptic depression in the neonatal rat spinal cord. J Physiol 1992; 447:149–169.

Lorentzen J, Grey MJ, Crone C, Mazevet D, Biering-Sørensen F, Nielsen JB. Distinguishing active from passive components of ankle plantar flexor stiffness in stroke, spinal cord injury and multiple sclerosis. Clin Neurophysiol 2010; doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2010.02.167.

Lundbye-Jensen J, Nielsen JB. Immobilization induces changes in presynaptic control of group Ia afferents in healthy humans. J Physiol 2008; 586(17):4121-35.

Magoun HW and Rhines R. Spasticity. The Stretch Reflex and Extrapyramidal Systems. Springfield, IL: Charles C Thomas 1947.

Malhotra S, Cousins E, Ward A, Day C, Jones P, Roffe C, et al. An investigation into the agreement between clinical, biomechanical and neurophysiological measures of spasticity. Clin Rehabil 2008; 22(12):1105–15.

Malhotra S. Spasticity, an impairment that is poorly defined and poorly understood. Clin Rehabil 2009; 23:651-58.

Malouin F, Pichard L, Corriveau D.Non-reflex mediated changes in plantarflexor muscles early after stroke. Scand J Rehabil Med 1997; 29(3):147-53.

Malouin F, Boiteau M, Bonneau C, et al. Use of a hand-held dynamometer for the evaluation of spasticity in a clinical setting: a reliable study. Physiotheapy Canada 1989; 41:126-134.

Mayer NH. Clinicophysiologic concepts of spasticity and motor dysfunction in adults with an upper motoneuron lesion. Muscle Nerve Suppl 1997; 6:1–13.

Mirbagheri MM, Barbeau H, Ladouceur M, Kearney RE. Intrinsic and reflex stiffness in normal and spastic, spinal cord injured subjects. Exp Brain Res 2001; 141(4):446–59.

Mirbagheri MM, Settle K, Harvey R, Rymer WZ. Neuromuscular abnormalities associated with spasticity of upper extremity muscles in hemiparetic stroke. J Neurophysiol 2007; 98(2):629–37.

Morita H, Crone C, Christenhuis D, Petersen NT, Nielsen JB. Modulation of presynaptic inhibition and disynaptic reciprocal Ia inhibition during voluntary movement in spasticity. Brain 2001; 124(4):826–837.

Nathan PW. Effects on movement of surgical incisions into the human spinal cord. Brain 1994; 117, 337-346.

Nielsen J, Petersen N, Crone C. Changes in transmission across synapses of Ia aVerents in spastic patients. Brain 1995; 118(4):995–1004.

Nielsen J, Hultborn H. Regulated properties of motoneurons and primary afferents: new aspects on possible spinal mechanisms underlying spasticity. In: Thilmann AF, Burke DJ, Rymer WZ (eds) Spasticity: mechanisms and management. Springer, Berlin 1993; pp 177–191.

Nielsen JB, Petersen NT, Crone C, Sinkjaer T. Stretch reflex regulation in healthy subjects and patients with spasticity. Neuromodulation 2005; 8: 49–57.

O'Dwyer NJ, Ada L, Neilson PD. Spasticity and muscle contracture following stroke. Brain 1996; 119(5):1737–49.

Okuma Y, Lee RG. Reciprocal inhibition in hemiplegia: correlation with clinical features and recovery. Can J Neurol Sci 1996; 23(1):15-23.

Pandyan AD, Price CI, Barnes MP, Johnson GR. A biomechanical investigation into the validity of the modified Ashworth Scale as a measure of elbow spasticity. Clin Rehabil. 2003;17(3):290-3.

Pandyan A, Gregoric M, Barnes M et al. Spasticity, clinical perceptions and neurological realities and meaningful measurement. Disabil Rehabil 2005; 27:2–6.

Panizza M, Balbi P, Russo G, Nilsson J. H-reflex recovery curve and reciprocal inhibition of H-reflex of the upper limbs in patients with spasticity secondary to stroke. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 1995; 74(5):357-63.

Pinar L, Enhos A, Ada S, Güngör N. Can we use nerve gliding exercises in women with carpal tunnel syndrome? Adv Ther 2005; 22(5):467-75.

Pinco M, Lev-Tov A. Modulation of monosynaptic excitation in the neonatal rat spinal cord. J Neurophysiol 1993; 70(3):1151–1158.

Prochazka A, Bennet DJ, StephensMJ, Patrick SK, Sears-Duru R, Roberts T, Jhamandas JH. Measurement of rigidity in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 1997; 12(1):24-32.

Renshaw B. Activity in the simplest spinal reflex pathways, J Neurophysiol 1940; 3:373–387.

Renshaw B. Influence of discharge of motoneurons upon excitation of neighboring motoneurons, J Neurophysiol 1941; 4:167–183.

Sanger T, Delgado M, Gaebler-Spira D, Hallett M, Mink J. Classification and definition of disorders causing hypertonia in childhood. Pediatrics 2003; 111: e89–e97.

Schindler-Ivens S, Shields RK. Low frequency depression of H-reflexes in humans with acute and chronic spinal-cord injury. Exp Brain Res 2000; 133(2):233–241.

Sechenov IM. Physiologische Studien über Hemmungsmechanismen für die Reflexthätigheit des Rückenmarks in Gehirne des Frosches. Berlin: Hirschenwald, 1863.

Shacklock MO. Neurodynamics. Physiotherapy 1995; 81:9-16.

Sheean G. The pathophysiology of spasticity. Eur J Neurol 2002; 9 (Suppl 1):3-9.

Sherrington CS. The interactive Action of the Nervous System. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1906.

Sherrington CS. Postural activity in muscle and nerve. Brain 1915; 38:191-234.

Simpson DM, Gracies JM, Yablon SA, Barbano R, Brashear A. Botulinum Neurotoxin vs Tizanidine in upper limb spasticity: a placebo-controlled study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2009; 80(4):380-5.

Singer B, Dunne J, Allison G. Reflex and non-reflex elements of hypertonia in triceps surae muscles following acquired brain injury: implications for rehabilitation. Disabil Rehabil 2001; 23(17):749-57.

Sinkjaer T, Toft E, Larsen K, Andreassen S, Hansen HJ. Non-reflex and reflex mediated ankle joint stiffness in multiple sclerosis patients with spasticity. Muscle Nerve 1993; 16(1):69–76.

Sinkjaer T, Magnussen I. Passive, intrinsic and reflex-mediated stiffness in the ankle extensors of hemiparetic patients. Brain 1994; 117(2):355–63.

Stein RB, Zehr EP, Lebiedowska MK, Popović DB, Scheiner A, Chizeck HJ. Estimating mechanical parameters of leg segments in individuals with and without physical disabilities. IEEE Trans Rehabil Eng 1996; 4(3):201-11.

Tal-Akabi A, Rushton A. An investigation to compare the effectiveness of carpal bone mobilisation and neurodynamic mobilisation as methods of treatment for carpal tunnel syndrome. Man Ther 2000; 5(4):214-22.

Tanaka, 1974 R. Reciprocal Ia inhibition during voluntary movements in man, Exp Brain Res 1974; 21: 529–540.

Thilmann AF, Fellows SJ. The time-course of bilateral changes in the reflex excitability of relaxed triceps surae muscle in human hemiparetic spasticity. J Neurol 1991; 238(5):293–8.

Todd RB. Clinical Lectures on Paralysis, Diseases of the Brain, and Other Affections of the Nervous System. Philadelphia: Lindsay and Blackiston, 1855.

Toft E, Sinkjaer T, Andreassen S, Hansen HJ. Stretch responses to ankle rotation in multiple sclerosis patients with spasticity. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 1993; 89(5):311–8.

Tower SS. Pyramidal lesion in the monkey. Brain 1940; 63:36-90.

Van Gijn J. The Babinski sign and the pyramidal syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1978; 41:865-72.

Whitlock JA. Neurophysiology of spasticity. In: Glen, M.B and Whyte J. (eds), The practical Management of Spasticity in Children and Adults. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, 1990; pp8-33.

Wilson LA, McKechnie AA. Oral diazepam in the treatment of spasticity in paraplegia a doubleblind trial and subsequent impressions. Scott Med J 1966; 11(2):46-51.

Web page 1: http://www.oed.com

Web page 2: http://www.oed.com/

Web page 3: http://zeus.atilf.fr/tlf.htm

Summary of the research questions

Research question in Study I:

The objective of Study I was to investigate the possibility that (1) stretch reflexes are reduced by post-activation depression to the same extent as H-reflexes and that (2) stretch reflexes and the stretch-evoked torque are less depressed by post-activation depression in people with spasticity than in healthy individuals.

Research question in Study II:

In Study II we combined biomechanical and electrophysiological measures to distinguish passive and active contributions to ankle joint stiffness. We then compared the results obtained to clinical estimates of ankle joint stiffness in order to identify the extent to which passive and active components of muscle stiffness are distinguished clinically.

Research question in Study III:

In Study III we investigated the reproducibility and sensitivity in measuring ankle and knee joint stiffness in control participants and spastic, SCI participants using a portable device (Prochazka et al., 1997), which integrates these two components and gives an immediate value for stiffness.

Research question in Study IV:

In Study IV we investigated the effect of ND in relation to change in muscle tone and range of motion (ROM) by a hand-held device in TBI patients with spasticity defined as "velocity-dependent increase in tonic stretch reflexes to phasic stretch, in the absence of voluntary activity" (Lance 1980).

Summary and conclusion of the four studies

Spasticity is a common disorder following lesions in CNS (Stroke: Simpson, 2008; SCI: Kirshblum, 1999; TBI: Sheean, 2002) and is defined as "a velocity-dependent increase in the tonic stretch reflex (muscle tone) with exaggerated tendon jerks, resulting from hyperexcitability of the stretch reflex, as one component of the upper motor neuron syndrome (Lance 1980).

The four studies in this thesis have quantification of spasticity with clinical, electrophysiological and biomechanical methods as a main focus.

In the first study we investigated PAD as one of many mechanisms in the spinal nervous network (Crone & Nielsen, 1986; Hultborn, 1986). PAD is the depression of synaptic efficiency following previous synaptic activation of Ia afferents, and PAD was found reduced in spastic patients (Nielsen, 1993, 1995; Aymard, 2000; Schindler-Ivens and Shields, 2000). We used the H-reflex as a traditional electrophysiology method in combination with a second laboratory method that combines biomechanics and electrophysiology. The latter method was presumed to be more related to clinical ways of measuring spasticity since it quantified biomechanically and electrophysiologically the stretch reflex based on movements of the ankle (as done in the clinic) as opposed to the H-reflex that is an indirect measure of the stretch reflex. We therefore wanted to investigate if the electrophysiological differences in PAD found between healthy and spastic individuals were reflected in the results when a biomechanical approach was applied.

The study demonstrated that the magnitude of the soleus stretch reflex and the H-reflex decreased as the interval between the stimulus or perturbation was decreased. Similarly, the resistance evoked by the stretch reflex decreased with decrease in perturbation intervals. PAD measured by all three parameters (magnitude of H-reflex, stretch reflex and resistance evoked by the stretch reflex) were found to be significantly smaller in spastic participants than in healthy ones. These results confirm previous findings about reduction in PAD in spastic individuals compared to healthy ones when measured electrophysiologically (Nielsen, 1993, 1995; Aymard, 2000; Schindler-Ivens and Shields, 2000). However, the measurements with the biomechanical / electrophysiological method also show that the decreased PAD in spastic individuals influences the manifestation of spasticity in the form of increased stretch reflex activity and muscle stiffness. It may therefore influence the result of the clinical testing of spasticity with for example the AS. In the clinical evaluation of spasticity, the examiner is likely to induce passive movements in frequency range of less than 10s rather than at intervals of more than 10s, which would be necessary to avoid post-activation depression. Based on our findings, the examiner would therefore be more likely to diagnose spasticity when using rapid movements repeated at short intervals. In our study the stretch evoked torque correlated significantly to the AS, but for PAD an insignificant trend to correlation to the AS was found. This could be due to lack of sensitivity of the clinical score to small changes in muscle stiffness or other parameters not related to reflexes such as increased passive stiffness by arthrogenic and myogenic changes in the joint. As mentioned above, reduced PAD is unlikely to be the only pathophysiological mechanism in spasticity. Our results support this statement, since a significant difference between stretch reflexes (and muscle stiffness) in the spastic and healthy individuals was also seen at stimulus intervals of 15s, whereas PAD has no effect on the evoked responses.

In the second study we wanted to separate and quantify the stretch reflex and the passive stiffness contribution to stiffness in the ankle joint with the combined biomechanical / electrophysiological method in healthy and spastic individuals. We then wanted to relate the results to the clinical evaluation of spasticity. This biomechanical method is based on ankle perturbations at different velocities above and below the reflex threshold. This type of methods has been demonstrated to be objective and reliable (Knutsson and Mårtensson, 1980; Sinkjaer et al., 1993, Sinkjaer and

Magnussen, 1994; Mirbagheri et al., 2001; Galiana et al., 2005) and could therefore work as a test of the size of the stretch reflex in healthy and spastic individuals, but also as a "gold standard" test against which the clinically applicable methods could be evaluated.

We found significantly increased reflex stiffness in the overall spastic population of stroke, MS and SCI participants regardless of the origin of spasticity and time since injury or onset of disease. Similar results were also found in the some studies (Jansen, 1962; Gottlieb et al., 1978; Broberg and Grimby, 1983; Thilmann and Fellows, 1991; Mirbagheri et al., 2001, 2007) whereas others found no increase in reflex excitability in spastic individuals (Sinkjaer et al., 1993; Lehmann et al., 1989; Sinkjaer and Magnussen, 1994). At the same time, we found higher passive stiffness in spastic compared to non-spastic participants and, among the former, only in spastic stroke participants was the difference significant compared to healthy controls. Increased passive stiffness was also found in previous studies with similar biomechanical evaluation methods (Dietz et al., 1981; Dietz and Berger, 1983; Hufschmidt and Mauritz, 1985; Lehmann et al., 1989; Thilmann et al., 1991; Sinkjaer et al., 1993; Sinkjaer and Magnussen, 1994; Toft et al., 1993).

The objective biomechanical evaluation agreed with clinical evaluation in only 64% of cases as to whether or not the reflex activity was increased. Despite a significant correlation between the stretch-evoked reflex torque and the AS a very large overlap was found, especially for AS 0-2. We conclude that the passive and active components of ankle joint stiffness cannot be reliably distinguished in the clinic with the present evaluation techniques. This has the clinical consequence that patients are potentially being diagnosed incorrectly and thus treated wrongly.

Accordingly, there is a need for evaluation techniques which have the same objective quantitative characteristics as the method used in this study, but also with practical characteristics such as ease of use, possibility of bringing to the bed side and capability of providing immediate results.

Therefore in the third study we investigated the reliability and sensitivity of a portable stiffness measurement device. This was done by 1) correlating the measured stiffness against the results measured with the biomechanical / electrophysiological method (as mentioned above) 2) calculation of the inter- and intra-rater variability of the portable stiffness measure device, and 3) investigating the ability of the portable device to distinguish between ankle and knee stiffness in healthy and spastic participants with SCI.

We found that stiffness results with the portable and stationary devices were significantly correlated. The Intra-rater reliability was 0.78-0.89 (SCI) and 0.63-0.67 (control) for the ankle, and 0.86-98 (SCI) and 0.81-0.91 (control) for the knee. Inter-rater reliability was 0.70-0.73 (SCI) and 0.61-0.77 (control) for the ankle, and 0.80-0.96 (SCI) and 0.53-0.78 (control) for the knee. Joint stiffness measures for SCI participants were significantly larger than control participants when stiffness was measured with movements at slow velocities (p<0.05) and at fast velocities. Stiffness measurements for fast ankle movements were greater than slow movements in SCI, but not for controls.

The device's correlation with measurements obtained by an objective biomechanical method, high intra- and inter-rater reliability, and ability to distinguish easily between spastic and control participants demonstrate that a portable device may be a useful diagnostic tool for measurement of spasticity. However, problems in terms of practical use, and the fact that the inertial component of stiffness was not included in the calculations, may provide inaccurate stiffness measurements of the knees, especially when the leg is moved rapidly.

Study IV was carried out while Study III was ongoing. Here we wanted to investigate if any change in spasticity could be detected as a consequence of a physiotherapy treatment (ND) on spastic patients with severe TBI. We used the portable stiffness measurement device as well as clinical

measure of spasticity and ROM to determine effects of the treatments and to investigate if greater effects were found with the ND treatment than with the RPM (control treatment).

We found no significant difference in stiffness measured with the portable stiffness measurement device when measured with fast or slow movements. However, a trend to a reduction in stiffness was found when the stiffness was tested at slow velocities. Also no change in the clinical spasticity score (MAS) was found. An increase in ROM was found for the R1 for both treatments whereas ROM for R2 was increased only after the ND treatment. Except for ROM, no differences were found for any of the measured parameters between the two treatments.

Thus, ND seems not to be effective in reducing spasticity when evaluated objectively, but may increase ROM in the knee flexors to the same extent as random passive movements.

Conclusion

Studies I and II illustrate clearly that the mechanisms behind spasticity, and spasticity itself (increased stretch reflexes), are poorly reflected by the existing clinical scoring systems. We therefore think that new objective spasticity evaluation techniques like the biomechanical / electrophysiological method used in these studies are needed to identify it in the clinic, but also to identify future subjects with spasticity when experiments are carried out to identify and quantify the spinal mechanisms involved.

Based on the good reliability of the portable stiffness measurement device and its good correlation to an objective, stationary stiffness measurement device we believe that with practical modifications and further development of the analysis of the stiffness a portable device could be used to measure stiffness.

No change in stiffness was found after treatment with ND when measured with clinical test methods and a hand –held dynamometer. Based on this, ND may not be useful to reduce spasticity. However, it may be beneficial in increasing ROM.